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[English]

The Chair (Mr. Ken McDonald (Avalon, Lib.)): Welcome
back, members.

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted on
February 8, 2024, the committee is resuming its study of plans to
prevent violence during the 2024 elver fishing season.

On our first panel today, we have a number of witnesses on
Zoom and others here in person.

On Zoom, from the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, we have
Darren Campbell, chief superintendent, criminal operations officer,
New Brunswick; and Sue Black, chief superintendent, criminal op-
erations officer, Nova Scotia.

From the Canada Border Services Agency, we have, in our com-
mittee room today, Dominic Mallette, regional director general, At-
lantic region; and Cathy Toxopeus, director general, commercial
programs.

I apologize for butchering anybody's name, but I'm from New-
foundland and I'm not well versed in a lot of these names, so please
be patient.

From the Canadian Food Inspection Agency, we have Kevin Ur-
banic, director general, Ontario operations; and Parthi Muthuku-
marasamy, executive director, international programs directorate.

We'll now go to the Canadian Food Inspection Agency for an
opening statement of five minutes or less.

Dr. Parthi Muthukumarasamy (Executive Director, Interna-
tional Programs Directorate, Canadian Food Inspection Agen-
cy): Thank you, Mr. Chair, and good afternoon.

I appreciate the opportunity to speak to the committee members
today on this important topic.

My name is Dr. Parthi Muthukumarasamy, and I work as execu-
tive director for international programs at the CFIA. I am accompa-
nied by Kevin Urbanic, director general for Ontario operations.

Today, I will provide an overview of the CFIA’s role in the ex-
port and import of juvenile American eels, also known as baby eels
or elvers.

Elvers are generally not exported for direct human consumption
as food. Instead, elvers are exported to be grown on aquaculture
farms in the importing country until they develop into adults and
are then harvested to be used as food.

The CFIA regulates the export and import of live animals, in-
cluding aquatic animals, under the Health of Animals Act and regu-
lations. The export and import requirements for the trade of live an-
imals, including aquatic animals, are primarily in place to prevent
the introduction of animal diseases and diseases that could be trans-
mitted from animals to humans.

In general, in order to provide assurances that the exported live
animals, or animal products, meet an importing country’s require-
ments related to animal and human health, an official export certifi-
cate endorsed by the CFIA is required for clearing the shipment in
the importing country. These export certificates are issued by the
CFIA only when required by the importing country, and when the
conditions for exports included in the certificate are established be-
tween the CFIA and the importing country.

Most countries do not require an export certification from the
CFIA for the export of American elvers intended for aquaculture.
Thus, the CFIA does not have an oversight for elvers exported to
these countries that do not require an export certificate.

We note from earlier meetings of this committee that some mem-
bers are interested in elver exports to China. Currently, China re-
quires an export certificate from Canada for the export of elvers for
aquaculture purposes. This certificate for the export of elvers was
last issued in 2017 and has not been issued since then.

In the case of Hong Kong, it does not require an export certifi-
cate for the export of elvers from Canada unless the elvers are in-
tended for re-export from Hong Kong to China. The last time CFIA
issued an export certificate for the export of elvers to Hong Kong
was June 2019.

From the import perspective, and the import of American eels or
elvers into Canada, the CFIA currently does not require an aquatic
animal health import permit or export certificate, as American eels
are not known to be susceptible to any of the CFIA-regulated dis-
eases.

The CFIA continues to work with the Department of Fisheries
and Oceans on the export and import of elvers as it relates to ani-
mal and public health.

Thank you, Mr. Chair. We are pleased to respond to any ques-
tions pertaining to the CFIA’s role in elver exports and imports.

The Chair: Thank you for that.
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We'll now go to Mr. Mallette from the Canada Border Services
Agency for an opening statement of five minute or less, please.

[Translation]

Mr. Dominic Mallette (Regional Director General, Atlantic
Region, Canada Border Services Agency): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good morning, everyone.

Members of the committee, thank you for inviting me to appear
before you.

[English]

I first want to acknowledge that this meeting is taking place on
the traditional, unceded territory of the Algonquin Anishinabe peo-
ple.

I would like to underscore that the illegal fishing of American eel
elvers is of great concern to the CBSA, and I appreciate the oppor-
tunity to contribute to the committee's study on this topic.

® (1635)

[Translation]

I will share with the committee the roles and responsibilities of
the Canada Border Services Agency, or CBSA, as they relate to
preventing the illegal elver fishery and the export of illegally
caught elvers.

The CBSA plays a supporting role by verifying that other depart-
mental requirements are met for fish and seafood imported into and
exported from Canada, and by administering the Customs Act.

[English]

The CBSA works closely with departments and agencies, such as
the Department of Fisheries and Oceans, to ensure, among other
things, that fish, seafood and seafood products being imported to
and exported from Canada are compliant with program legislation.

[Translation]

Upon identification of a specific shipment or commodity of con-
cern by DFO, the CBSA works jointly with DFO to identify and in-
tercept shipments to ensure compliance with all government regula-
tions.

[English]

The CBSA is actively working to prevent the export of illegally
caught elvers. There are currently no licences, permits or certifi-
cates prescribed in any OGD legislation that must be presented or
verified at the border in order to export fish, including elvers, from
Canada. The only exceptions are the endangered species controlled
under the Wild Animal and Plant Protection and Regulation of In-
ternational and Interprovincial Trade Act, which includes the Con-
vention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fau-
na and Flora.

In this respect, the CBSA assists Environment and Climate
Change Canada with the administration and enforcement of these
acts by ensuring that any shipments are accompanied by the re-
quired permits. Suspected non-compliant shipments are detained
and referred to ECCC wildlife enforcement officers. The CBSA

may also notify ECCC of wildlife taken in contravention of provin-
cial laws, which is an offence under the act.

Currently, American eel elvers are not protected by CITES.

[Translation]

The CBSA collects statistical information on the export of cer-
tain fish and certain fishing catches through its electronic reporting
requirements. This information is transmitted daily to Statistics
Canada by way of electronic file transfers.

[English]

The CBSA works with ECCC wildlife enforcement and DFO of-
ficers on criminal investigations with a border nexus, such as smug-
gling activities.

The CBSA is also a member of the recently formed interdepart-
mental fish and seafood traceability task force, led by the DFO,
which addresses, in part, illegal, unregulated and unreported fish-
eries.

Additionally, the DFO is currently developing regulations to im-
pose the requirement of a licence to allow the export of elvers. This
will provide the CBSA with enhanced authorities to intercept eels
at the border.

We will continue to work with the DFO as it develops these reg-
ulations, and we will make sure that our border officers are trained
and prepared to stop and seize illegal elver exports once these regu-
lations come into force. The CBSA regularly updates directions to
frontline officers to manage the handling, interdiction or release of
high-risk goods.

[Translation]

As a final point, the CBSA is continuously working to improve
not only our relationships with our partners, but also our collective
intelligence and enforcement capabilities, our operations, our
lessons learned and our successes.

That concludes my opening remarks. I'm happy to answer your
questions.

[English]
The Chair: Thank you for that.

We'll now go to Sue Black for an opening statement of five min-
utes or less, please.

Chief Superintendent Sue Black (Criminal Operations Offi-
cer, H Division, Core Criminal Operations, Nova Scotia, Royal
Canadian Mounted Police): Thank you, Mr. Chair, for the oppor-
tunity to speak to plans and strategies towards preventing incidents
of violence subsequent to the cancellation of the 2024 elver fishing
season.
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My name is Chief Superintendent Sue Black, and I am the crimi-
nal operations officer for the Nova Scotia RCMP or what we refer
to as H division. The criminal operations officer is responsible for
uniform and plainclothes investigative personnel with a mandate of
core provincial policing services. I have been with the RCMP for
35 years in a number of roles, including core policing and, under
the federal policing umbrella, border integrity, war crimes and in-
ternational policing.

I am joined today by Chief Superintendent Darren Campbell,
who is the criminal operations officer—my counterpart—for the
RCMP in New Brunswick, also known as the J division.

The RCMP takes its primary role of upholding public safety very
seriously.

® (1640)
[Translation]

The RCMP is mandated with protecting the public and enforcing
applicable laws, including the Criminal Code, independently of po-
litical direction or influence. The RCMP will continue to take steps
to ensure that those who unlawfully interfere with or threaten the
safety of any person or property will be held accountable in accor-
dance with the laws of Canada.

The RCMP's approach is impartial, respectful and balanced. It
engages proactively with the community and stakeholders and de-
velops communication and mitigation strategies aimed at prevent-
ing conflict. Our continued goal is to maintain the peace and facili-
tate peaceful resolutions to public order events.

[English]

The RCMP's role within the context of elver fishing, where it is
the police of jurisdiction, is to respond to any Criminal Code infrac-
tions arising from conflict between parties involved in related dis-
putes, to take proactive steps to reduce the risk of public safety in-
cidents and to seek peaceful outcomes in the event of public order
events.

RCMP division liaison team—or DLT—resources engage with
all fishery stakeholders to facilitate conversations and understand-
ing between parties with a goal of peaceful outcomes. The DLT has
a long-standing and positive relationship with key stakeholders, in-
cluding in the industry. This team is positioned to participate in dia-
logue to minimize risks to all persons and assist the RCMP in en-
suring public safety.

The Nova Scotia RCMP has a well-established plan and com-
mand structure that covers operational, tactical and strategic-level
responses for planned and unplanned major incidents.

[Translation]

Should civil unrest occur, uniformed personnel can be supple-
mented by additional strategic tactical operations resources from
surrounding jurisdictions. Operational contingency plans are in
place to respond if required. Should an event materialize outside of
the RCMP’s jurisdiction, the RCMP is prepared to support and bol-
ster the lead agency’s law enforcement posture and activities.

In the event of civil unrest, such as a public order event, the
emergency coordination centre, led by the Department of Fisheries

and Oceans, or DFO, and supported by the Nova Scotia RCMP and
the Canadian Coast Guard, will ensure a unified approach that max-
imizes the Government of Canada’s response. The Nova Scotia
RCMP continues to support DFO through participation in emergen-
cy coordination centre activities.

[English]

The RCMP is committed to reconciliation and renewed, en-
hanced relationships with indigenous communities based on the
recognition of rights, respect, co-operation and partnership. As
such, any possible actions taken by the RCMP will be in the spirit
of the culturally respectful efforts made to date to build meaningful,
trustworthy and lasting relationships with indigenous communities
and their peoples.

All of our work continues to include co-operation and partner-
ship with the communities we serve.

Ultimately, while efforts to find a peaceful, long-term resolution
rooted in the recognition of legitimate indigenous treaty rights con-
tinue, the RCMP will remain focused on upholding public safety,
maintaining peaceful conditions for all involved and thoroughly in-
vestigating Criminal Code offences.

Thank you, Chair, for inviting me to appear before you today.

The Chair: Thank you.

We'll go to our rounds of questions.

We'll start with Mr. Perkins for six minutes or less, please.

Mr. Rick Perkins (South Shore—St. Margarets, CPC): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, witnesses, for coming.

I'd like to begin with the CBSA, if I could. I'll name the organi-
zations and you guys can choose who's most appropriate to answer.
It'll make it easier and I won't destroy your names, either.

CBSA, are you aware of a company in Toronto owned by Zheng
Chao and Mark Mao, which exported somewhere in the neighbour-
hood of 100 tonnes of elvers out of the Toronto airport last year?

® (1645)

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I personally am not aware of that com-
pany, to be honest. I would question the quantities exported, but |
can't do that at this time, so—
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Mr. Rick Perkins: Well, it was verified—those approximate
numbers were verified—in the Chronicle Herald a couple of weeks
ago. They got the export numbers from Hong Kong. They were go-
ing through Hong Kong. They were confirmed.

My follow-up question is for the CFIA. A number of those ex-
ports had CFIA certification tags on them, going through Hong
Kong. They go through Hong Kong, go through Korea and then
move to China.

You testified, I think, that you don't have any record of that. I
find it hard to believe that when that kind of volume of live seafood
was going through on plane manifests, out of a terminal in Toronto,
you wouldn't know that.

Dr. Parthi Muthukumarasamy: As I mentioned in the opening
remarks, Hong Kong does not require export certification for export
to Hong Kong from Canada, unless the product will be re-exported
to China. We have not issued any export certification to Hong
Kong, or to China, since—

Mr. Rick Perkins: One, are you aware that all those exports are
going to China? That's where the aquaculture is to grow them. Two,
are you aware that in Hong Kong they're forging CFIA documents
for the export to China?

Dr. Parthi Muthukumarasamy: When we are aware of forged
certificates, we take action. We have a mechanism in place for en-
forcement and investigation activities. We were not notified in
Hong Kong or by Hong Kong authorities of any forged certificates
that have been used. Unfortunately, we don't have jurisdiction in
Hong Kong. It's for the Hong Kong authorities to investigate.

Mr. Rick Perkins: If you don't have jurisdiction there, how do
you know they're not forging?

Dr. Parthi Muthukumarasamy: We are not aware of any
forged certificates being used.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Thank you.

To the CBSA, are you aware that large amounts of illegal elver
exports go out in live lobster crates to China?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: Yes, I am fully aware.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Do you inspect all lobster crates of live lob-
ster going out of Halifax or any other border in Canada?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: The short answer to that, Mr. Chair, is
no. The CBSA does not inspect 100% of lobster shipments going
out, either at Halifax or at Toronto. Doing that would likely lead to
significant complications in the entire lobster industry.

Mr. Rick Perkins: What percentage do you do?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I could not give you a percentage, to be
honest. We do random examinations, in fact.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Could you tell us the percentage in a written
statement to the committee, please?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I could come back and give you a per-
centage, perhaps.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Thank you.

To the RCMP, you're the Nova Scotia provincial police force. Is
that correct?

C/Supt Sue Black: Yes, we are the provincial police in Nova
Scotia.

Mr. Rick Perkins: As part of that responsibility, you have a re-
sponsibility for enforcing trespassing law and the illegal possession
and use of firearms in the province, do you not?

C/Supt Sue Black: Yes, we do.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Last year, during the illegal elver season,
very few, if any, trespassing charges were laid. Maybe you can en-
lighten us on that.

I can tell you that I know from my constituents, two minutes
from my house, that the RCMP were called nightly at the Tantallon
detachment and were asked to make arrests. There were nightly
poachers on their land, over four months, defecating and destroying
their land. Eventually, the detachment said to please stop calling
them or they would arrest them. They would arrest the property
owner.

Why would the RCMP refuse to enforce the trespassing law on
the south shore of Nova Scotia in the Halifax regional municipality,
where there is jurisdiction, but instead threaten the victims of the
crime being committed?

C/Supt Sue Black: Thank you for the question, Chair.

I am aware of the member's assertions. I want to assure the com-
mittee that I was quite concerned when I heard about them. I did
some research, and this is what I found. We searched our databases
for trespassing occurrences related to elver fishing. Since January
2023, we found six complaints. We followed up on all of them. In
four out of the six instances, we attended personally to the call.

It's important to note that trespassing at night, under section 177
in the Criminal Code, is a summary conviction offence. For any en-
forcement action to be taken, that would mean that we would have
to find them committing it.

® (1650)

Mr. Rick Perkins: I would suggest that your record-keeping is
weak. I do know that a third of the jobs in your call centre aren't
filled. The issue is that these folks were phoning every night, unless
you're saying that they are misleading the media and me as to
what's going on.

1 would ask that you enforce the trespassing law. These rivers are
full of people with illegal firearms, and no one has been charged

with having illegal firearms. I would suggest that the RCMP has to
do a better job of enforcing those basic laws.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Perkins.

We'll now go to Mr. Cormier for six minutes or less, please.
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[Translation]

Mr. Serge Cormier (Acadie—Bathurst, Lib.): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

My first question is for Mr. Mallette.

Several weeks or maybe months ago, the industry discussed cer-
tain tools that could be available to you for such things as traceabil-
ity. Other jurisdictions, including Maine, have adopted an approach
that allows for eel tracing. Can you tell us if this is being done else-
where and explain to us how we could implement the same trace-
ability process here for the elver fishery?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: Mr. Chair, the traceability of elvers isn't
the responsibility of the Canada Border Services Agency. The only
tools I'm aware of were used by the CBSA to identify

[English]

elvers in boxes of lobster or other boxes at the airport, so that can-
not speak to traceability for elver in the industry.
[Translation]

Mr. Serge Cormier: I want to make sure that we fully under-
stand the scope of what's going on at the moment. Right now, fish-
ing is illegal. If someone tried to export elvers, how would you stop
that from happening?

You said earlier that it's impossible to monitor all shipments, but
how are you going to make sure that doesn't happen?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: Mr. Chair, if we find undeclared elvers,
whether at the Halifax airport or the Toronto airport, we have the
authority to seize them. If they are declared under the Export and
Import Permits Act, all we can do is

[English)
a referral, I guess, to CFIA to see what authorities they may have to
seize those or otherwise.
[Translation]
Mr. Serge Cormier: Okay.
Ms. Black, in recent weeks, has the RCMP made any arrests or

seizures on rivers or waterways in Nova Scotia, New Brunswick or
elsewhere?

C/Supt Sue Black: Thank you for the question.
The RCMP's primary mandate is public safety and conducting in-
vestigations into Criminal Code offences.
[English]

Anything to do with violations of the Fisheries Act falls to the
Department of Fisheries and Oceans.
[Translation]

Mr. Serge Cormier: Were arrests made anyway?
[English]

C/Supt Sue Black: With regard to any arrests that were made in
relation to infractions of the Fisheries Act, I can't speak to that, but
from an RCMP perspective, whenever there's a nexus to the elver

situation or issue, if we are asked for assistance and if we investi-
gate Criminal Code offences that are related, then we would make

the arrests. The most recent arrests would have occurred on March
16, subsequent to a request for assistance from DFO for our help in
managing Criminal Code offences that were related to their en-
forcement action with regard to the Fisheries Act.

® (1655)
[Translation]

Mr. Serge Cormier: That doesn't really answer my question, but
I understand what your responsibilities are.

Mr. Mallette, let's talk more about the tools you have to trace
elvers. What tools would you need right now to do your job proper-
ly? Do you already have them or do you need other tools so we
don't end up in the same situation as in recent years?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: Thank you for your question.

We do have the tools to trace elvers. We can use X-ray machines
to scan boxes of lobsters or elvers to see if there are actually elvers
inside. We have the equipment to do that.

That said, we still have to deal with the issue of traceability,
which is not our responsibility. Our responsibility is to identify
elvers at the time of export, if necessary.

[English]

Mr. Serge Cormier: Ms. Black, I'm going back to you. I'm not
sure if you can answer this.

The RCMP still knows what's going on, on the ground. With
what you saw happening last year, do you think we could have had
a safe season this year, if there had been an open season of elver
fishing?

C/Supt Sue Black: I don't think I can project the future state.
Our agency doesn't have a direct mandate with the Fisheries Act.
We're focused on Criminal Code offences.

I assume the question could be answered by the Department of
Fisheries and Oceans, in terms of their risk assessments surround-
ing this decision.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Cormier.

We'll now go to Madame Desbiens for six minutes or less.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens (Beauport—Céate-de-Beaupré—ile
d'Orléans—Charlevoix, BQ): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to our witnesses for being here. It's always valuable
to have people with their expertise here. We gain a better under-
standing of the critical situation that hits honest fishers hardest be-
cause they're the ones who end up without a job. That's extremely
troubling. I have met with fishers who have worked so hard to de-
velop this market for over 20 years, and now they've been left high
and dry, so to speak.
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How can we save honest fishers—Ilet's call them that—and
quickly solve a number of problems and reopen this fishery next
year, say? Do you have a timeline in mind?

I'm not sure who this question should go to. I might not be ask-
ing the right person. Maybe one or two of the witnesses can answer.

I know these people are listening to us today. They can stop fish-
ing for a year; their financial situation allows them to wait until
next year. However, without a short or medium-term solution in
sight, this lucrative industry will be in quite a bind.

These people are making sacrifices now to eliminate the illegal
elver fishery. Do you think they can look forward to resuming their
activities soon?

I don't see anyone jumping in here.

Mr. Dominic Mallette: Maybe that question is better put to the
Department of Fisheries and Oceans than to CBSA.

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: At this point in time, are the tools at
your disposal sufficient to do assessments, impose constraints, con-
duct investigations and even arrest offenders? Do you have enough
financial, technical and human resources on the ground?

® (1700)
Mr. Dominic Mallette: I can answer that.

If regulations allowed us to enforce the act, that would help. If
permits were required for either importing or exporting, that would
help us combat the problem. Export permits aren't required at this
point. That's something that would really help us.

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: That's one thing you'd like to see. That
would enable traceability. That's actually the key to traceability.
When there is an export or import permit, people can trace the ori-
gin and destination of the products. I understand. There should be
regulations for issuing permits.

It looks like offenders have the upper hand. Could the regula-
tions be stricter and the fines stiffer?

That's what I've always recommended because I think it's a good
idea. That's what we do for some of these things in Quebec.

Could the committee recommend imposing stiffer fines and re-
turning that revenue to the security system to pay for better tools
and equipment? Would that be helpful? Is that wishful thinking?

[English]
Dr. Parthi Muthukumarasamy: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

That question is more appropriate for the Department of Fish-
eries and Oceans.

However, we are working closely with DFO in their develop-
ment of regulations. They're working through that. I believe DFO
has plans to regulate the possession and export of elvers, in terms
of permitting and controlling any illegal fisheries.

From an agency perspective, we have a number of tools when we
see non-compliance, including cancelling licences to operate—for
example, in food establishments—administrative monetary penal-
ties, prosecution, etc., and we take action when our regulations and
legislation are not complied with.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Dominic Mallette: Similarly, the regulations that we believe
may come into force sometime in the future will certainly help the
CBSA.

In the meantime, we do have access to regulatory options of en-
forcement comprising fines under the Customs Act or criminal
prosecution when the act is contravened, but we haven't come
across that in recent times.

We're looking, and we are ready to fully exercise our authorities
when the time comes.

The Chair: Thank you, Madame Desbiens.

There are only three seconds left on your clock, so we'll move on
to the next questioner.

We have Ms. Barron for six minutes or less.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron (Nanaimo—Ladysmith, NDP): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses for being here today.
My first question is for Mr. Mallette from CBSA.

We had the deputy minister of Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Ms.
Annette Gibbons, recently at the committee. She was speaking to
the committee about how not opening the elver fishery in 2024
would make it impossible to launder or mix legally and illegally
caught elvers.

I'm wondering if, in your role, you can provide your thoughts
about whether this closure that's happening will make it easier for
the Canada Border Services Agency to prevent the export of illegal-
ly caught elvers. Could you speak to this comment that was made?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: Thank you for the question.

It's difficult to answer. I haven't read that statement by the deputy
minister. I'm not sure whether, even if the fishery is closed, legally
and illegally caught elvers won't get mixed. I think the problem re-
mains.

I'm not sure if [ answered your question.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: I was as confused by it as you were, so
thank you for confirming that. Perhaps I'll dig a little deeper into
that.

I'm wondering if you can share what you feel is needed. What is
the most effective tool that could be put into place to help CBSA
identify illegal elvers crossing the border?

® (1705)

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I'll go back to my previous answer to
this.
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If we had a proper regulatory regime in place and a permit re-
quirement, it would help us tremendously in identifying illegal
shipments and give us the authority to actively pursue non-compli-
ance.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Mr. Mallette, I'll continue with you.

You spoke about the licences. Now you're speaking about regula-
tory practices and so on. I'm wondering if you could share a bit
more about how CBSA would enforce these licences and what
would be needed by CBSA to operationalize a system of licences in
order to ensure unlicensed elvers are not crossing the border.

Mr. Dominic Mallette: Presumably, as with any other commodi-
ty, if permits were required by law, they would have to be submit-
ted to the CBSA upon export. We would presumably have a copy of
that permit available to us for verification and could react accord-
ingly, should there not be a permit included in the export transac-
tion or submission.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: To clarify, Mr. Mallette, is there some-
thing specific the committee should be aware of—a resource, a
tool, funding, supports or training? Is there something specific you
can share that CBSA may require through this change, if this is im-
plemented?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I'll answer that by saying that if permits
were, in fact, required and the law provided for them to be submit-
ted to the CBSA, I suspect system enhancement on the CBSA side
could help validate the presence of the permit in the system in order
to expedite the validation process.

Therefore, perhaps system enhancements...once the permit is
legally required to be submitted.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you.
My next question is for Chief Superintendent Black.

Ms. Black, I would like to just read for you a portion of an email
that was sent to me by an elver harvester. Perhaps you can provide
some comment on it because it particularly touched me to hear
these words. It says:

In the past, our safety procedures simply involved wearing a lifejacket, wearing
the proper wet gear, carrying a flashlight, fishing in pairs etc.

Now our safety is jeopardized every night—

They go on to say this:
—because of the complete lack of enforcement of IUU elver fishing

Last season we called both C&P and RCMP when [we] were confronted by
poachers and no response, from either. I cannot over state the...frustration (and
bewilderment) when we had NO response from law enforcement!

This lawlessness and lack of enforcement has undermined my sense of safety in
my workplace.
The last thing she says is this:

Just imagine if someone entered your office, stole your laptop, destroyed it,
yelled at you, left their garbage all over your office—and you called the police
and they refused to come. AND then you lose your job and your income is given
to the perpetrator.

I thought this was a really important example of the impacts.

I'm wondering if you can provide some thoughts around this
email that I received, please.

C/Supt Sue Black: Thank you for your question.

It's important to note, as I stated in my opening remarks, that it's
about mandate. The RCMP's mandate is focused on public safety
and the enforcement of Criminal Code offences. With regard to har-
vesting, conservation and protection of Canada's freshwater and
green fisheries, that falls to the mandate of DFO. It also falls to the
DFO for enforcement of alleged or actual violations of the Fisheries
Act.

Where we get reports of Criminal Code activity, we will respond.
We do respond and investigate appropriately.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Barron.

We'll now go to Mr. Small for five minutes or less, please.

Mr. Clifford Small (Coast of Bays—Central—Notre Dame,
CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'd like to thank the witnesses for coming out today and taking
part in this study.

Mr. Mallette, I heard you say that there's no proper regulatory
regime in place.

DFO has known about the catastrophe in the elver fishery for the
last 10 years. Wouldn't you think that this would be enough time for
aregime to be put in place that could straighten all this out?

® (1710)

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I don't think I said there's no proper reg-
ulatory regime. I think enhancing the current regime would help.

Second, I think this question would be much better answered by
DFO.

Mr. Clifford Small: Do you think DFO has failed the elver fish-
ery?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I can't comment on that.

Mr. Clifford Small: You have no comment.

Twenty times more elvers were exported last year than there was
a quota for. Was the quota amount flagged to you?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I've heard that statement made before. [
have not verified it, to be honest. I hear a lot of statistics being
shared.

One challenge that does exist for us is that elvers and eels are
both identified using the same code, which is called an HS code in
the system, so I'm cautious about trying to discuss statistics, be-
cause we're not counting the same things.

I think one enhancement that could be made—and I believe DFO
is currently working on this—is to create a specific HS code to dif-
ferentiate between eels and elvers, which will fix some of the data.
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Mr. Clifford Small: Mr. Mallette, is the export of elvers current-
ly banned? Is there an export ban right now?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: There is no export ban on elvers that are
imported from outside of Canada. There is a ban on elvers that are
fished within Canadian territory.

Mr. Clifford Small: How good is your math inside your organi-

zation on calculating how many elvers are coming in from other
countries to be transshipped versus what's going out?

Obviously, last year there must have been some kind of a mis-
match.

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I can't comment on that without looking
the numbers, to be honest, and analyzing the numbers.

Mr. Clifford Small: Would you be able to provide the commit-
tee with some written testimony on that?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: We can certainly look at the data and
provide you what's available to us that would be reasonable to an-
swer the question, yes.

Mr. Clifford Small: Thank you very much.
My next question is for Chief Superintendent Black.

I have some ATIP information here. I would say there are about
50 reports of illegal elver fishing. I opened the page and I was very
surprised to see this report of seven or eight people setting up nets
and fishing for elvers near Yarmouth. They stated there are vehi-
cles, but did not have descriptions. There were no descriptions of
the vehicles, including licence plates or who owned them. They al-
so stated some are indigenous and some are not, but there's no fish-
ing allowed in the area.

The thing that got me is that some were indigenous and some
were not. What does that have to do...? Why would that language
be in an email that's coming from an official in your department?

C/Supt Sue Black: I'm not aware of the documents you're shar-
ing with us today.

Mr. Clifford Small: These are from an ATIP. They were provid-
ed by the RCMP.

C/Supt Sue Black: Was that in Nova Scotia?
Mr. Clifford Small: Yes.

C/Supt Sue Black: I have no background on it, so I can't answer
why the comments were made in that email.

Mr. Clifford Small: If we have to distinguish between indige-
nous and non-indigenous people, it makes me think that there's
some kind of directive coming down from the minister.

Was there, in fact, a directive delivered to the RCMP on how to
enforce the law, depending on the ethnicity of the poachers?

C/Supt Sue Black: No, there was not such a directive.

Mr. Clifford Small: Why would that be laid out—

The Chair: Your time has expired, Mr. Small.

We'll now go to Mr. Kelloway for five minutes or less, please.

Mr. Mike Kelloway (Cape Breton—Canso, Lib.): Thank you,
Mr. Chair. I appreciate it.

I want to thank everyone here today for their service—and those
who are online, of course.

I think it's important to come back to the facts and what people
are feeling. The facts are that last year, we had an unprecedented
onslaught, particularly in the South Shore, but also in different parts
of Nova Scotia and New Brunswick. We heard a lot of testimony
here, but we also heard a lot in phone calls and emails from people
who were concerned or worried. People are fearful.

What I've seen this year.... Again, these are my observations, but
they're from some information in relation to what's going on with C
and P and the RCMP, even since we last chatted. Between March 6
and 18, I believe, there were about 33 arrests, six vehicles seized,
63 nets seized and one firearm seized. We had a C and P officer
who was rammed by an alleged criminal.

These men and women are putting their lives on the line for their
fellow brothers and sisters. It is complicated. I'm fearful for these
individuals who are laying their lives on the line for us, but they're
doing it, and for the last couple of weeks, they have seemingly been
doing a much better job. I commend C and P and the RCMP for
what they do when they go into those situations, because they don't
know what's going to happen. I appreciate it so much.

I want to stick with the South Shore for a bit, which is in Mr.
Perkins' riding. There's been a lot of activity there, in particular.

This is to the RCMP. We hear time and time again about orga-
nized crime. Can you give us any type of information on organized
crime? To what degree is it being investigated? What's the follow-
up?

® (1715)

C/Supt Sue Black: One of the RCMP's national priorities is or-
ganized crime, but unfortunately, I can't speak to specific ongoing
investigations. Organized crime entities are involved in many com-
modities. I'll leave it at that.

We take complaints seriously and follow up on any that fall with-
in our mandate. Our members across the province work very hard
to build trust with communities and encourage Nova Scotians to
come forward to report crimes that may be affecting their safety.
Through direct contact with police and through the crime stoppers
program, when we get complaints that are linked to organized
crime, we investigate them.

Mr. Mike Kelloway: I appreciate that.

How closely are the RCMP and C and P working together? I
keep hearing that they are. How close are they?

1 would appreciate it if you could keep it brief. Thank you.
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C/Supt Sue Black: We meet regularly with DFO enforcement
officials—C and P—on the elver issue to share information that's
related to our mandates, if we hear of any information that might
assist them or vice versa. We share regularly and try to stay on top
of things as they evolve, if that answers your question.

Mr. Mike Kelloway: Thank you.

I'll just stay with the RCMP for one more question, and then I
want to go to CBSA.

Has the ministry of fisheries ever directed the RCMP to do any-
thing, ordered you or told you what to do?

C/Supt Sue Black: No, they have not.

Mr. Mike Kelloway: [Technical difficulty—FEditor] the ministry
and the RCMP. There's a reason why they are separate. Isn't that
right?

C/Supt Sue Black: I'm sorry. The first part of your question
dropped.

Mr. Mike Kelloway: I said that there's a reason for the separa-
tion between the ministry and the police officers, the RCMP
provincially. You would never hear from a minister ordering you
what to do, where to go or what to investigate.

C/Supt Sue Black: Exactly. We operate independently of any
political interests.

Mr. Mike Kelloway: Thank you.
I have 30 seconds.

In terms of CBSA, one of the witnesses talked about hand-held
devices that can really dive into what's in a crate or a box. Do we
use them now? Are we looking at using new technological tools
that lend themselves to better traceability and better observation?
Clearly, elvers are going to Halifax port, Montreal port, Montreal
airport and Toronto airport. Are we investigating any new tools to
uncover elvers?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: We're not investigating the use of new
tools. I believe that we have the tools that are necessary to identify
the commodity in question—again, outside of traceability, for ex-
amination purposes. That's how I'm responding to the question.

® (1720)

Mr. Mike Kelloway: Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Kelloway.

We'll go to Madame Desbiens now for two and a half minutes or
less, please.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
There are two things I want to dig into.

First of all, money is the sinews of war. Because of fines, 99% of
people wear their seat belt. Even if you're not the one putting that
kind of thing in place, do you think that increasing fines give you
more leverage? My husband was a police officer, so that's one of
the terms we use. It's easier to deter offenders when there's a way to
punish them. The problem is that rule-followers are being punished.
They're losing their income.

So, first, can substantially higher fines deter offenders?

Second—you may tell me this is a question for the govern-
ment—could we look at reinvesting the money that police recover
from the black market to help people dealing with drug problems or
revenue from traffic fines to maintain roads? That's what we do in
Quebec. That money goes back into the system, so it ends up cost-
ing the government nothing.

Do you think that makes sense, or do you think it would have no
impact on these crimes?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I'll answer the first question.

In my experience, yes, in some situations increasing fines helps
correct bad behaviour. We've seen that in the past.

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: They're rich people, right?

So, you think it would have an impact.

Mr. Dominic Mallette: Yes, but I don't know if it would have
the same impact there. It might, but I can't really give you a guaran-
tee.

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: You'd have to try it. That could be a
recommendation.

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I really can't comment on the second
question.

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: That's another issue, yes.

Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: Thank you, Madame Desbiens.

We'll now go to Ms. Barron for two and a half minutes or less,
please.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you, Chair.

I'm just trying to remember if the question was already asked and
I missed it. Chief Superintendent Black, did somebody already ask
how many people were arrested in 2023 in relation to complaints
that may have been called in relating to the elver fishery? Do we
have any numbers or a sense of how many arrests have been made?

C/Supt Sue Black: There was a question asked about assertions
made around the RCMP response to trespassing complaints. There
wasn't a question about the number of arrests.
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However, I can say, as I mentioned earlier, that we researched
our database. We've had six complaints of trespassing related to the
elver fishery since January 2023. We followed up on all the cases
and physically attended in four of those six cases. As I was explain-
ing in my last answer, “Trespassing at night” is section 177 of the
Criminal Code. It's at night. It's a summary conviction offence. In
order for us to enforce it, we have to physically see the person in
the act of trespassing. In four of the six cases, we located persons at
the site of the trespassing. It also usually has to go with another
criminal intent. There was a conversation where the persons were
asked to leave, and those who were approached did leave.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Just to clarify, you said that you fol-
lowed up. What do you mean by “followed up”? Is there a time
frame in which a follow-up...?

C/Supt Sue Black: “Follow up” could mean anything from tak-
ing the call, getting all the information possible from the person
who is making the complaint and determining.... For instance, in
the case of trespassing—I'm just going to give an example—if the
persons are gone, then we're not going to attend, because they're
gone. That would be the end of our follow-up. We would do the pa-
perwork, fill out the report, etc. and close the file. If the com-
plainant makes another call, then we would deal with it again, ap-
propriately, depending on what the case is.

It's all about what the information is that we have on hand and
how we appropriately approach it, because everything—

® (1725)
The Chair: Okay, your time is up, Ms. Barron.

Thank you for that.

We have three or four minutes left, so I'll go to Mr. Arnold for
three minutes, to get in a couple of questions if he can.

Mr. Mel Arnold (North Okanagan—Shuswap, CPC): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

I want to thank all of those attending today as witnesses for their
services through public safety, food safety, border safety and crimi-
nal activity. Your service is greatly appreciated.

First of all, Superintendent Black, are officers provided training
on how to decide whom to arrest and, more so, whom not to arrest?

C/Supt Sue Black: We get extensive training on the enforcement
of Criminal Code offences and other statutes that we have mandate
over. I'll try to go fairly quickly, with the committee's indulgence. It
starts in depot, in our training academy. We get six months initially,
followed by six months of field training, and then followed by in-
service training throughout our careers. Depending on the area of
our work and expertise, we will take job-related training that sup-
ports our ability to enforce various legislation.

Mr. Mel Arnold: I take it that officers are trained in whom to
arrest, or when to make an arrest and when not to make an arrest.
I'll take a yes-or-no answer: yes, they're trained, or no, they're not.

C/Supt Sue Black: Yes, they are.
Mr. Mel Arnold: Okay. Thank you.

Mr. Mallette, you stated today that we need a proper regulatory
regime in place in order for your department to act properly. I made

a note of that when you stated it. If that regime was in place, how
would you differentiate between elvers imported into Canada ver-
sus elvers harvested in Canada? That seemed to be the situation last
year from the anecdotal information we have—they were being
mixed together, and there was no way of knowing what was being
exported from Canada.

Mr. Dominic Mallette: The proposed regulations from our part-
ners at DFO would specifically address the co-mingling of legally
fished elvers in Canada and those that are imported. It would ensure
they remain separate. It would provide us with a great deal of clari-
ty about which one is which and how we can enforce accordingly.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Is this regulatory regime really what is needed
to solve this ongoing problem? From everything we're seeing, it's
been happening since at least 2017, because you quoted—I believe
it was you or CBSA—that there have been no shipments to some
countries since 2017, or no permits issued to some countries since
2017.

This is a seven-year-old problem that has yet to be solved, so
what are the solutions?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I'm not sure how to answer your ques-
tion, because it went to different places. You mentioned 2017. 1
didn't reference 2017 myself. Perhaps we're talking about ship-
ments to China versus Hong Kong. I don't know.

Can you rephrase the question, and I'll attempt to answer it?

Mr. Mel Arnold: What is needed for a safe, legal harvest, ship-
ment, and export of elvers, aside from people abiding by the laws
already in place?

Mr. Dominic Mallette: I would suggest that if we had enhanced
regulations, they would tremendously assist with the interdiction,
yes.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Arnold.

I want to thank our witnesses for our first hour's panel on this
study today. Thank you for sharing your time and your knowledge
with us to help us write a report on this very important matter.

I'll let the people on Zoom sign off. We'll change our witnesses
here in the room and move on to the next group.

We'll suspend for a few minutes.

® (1725) (Pause)

® (1730)

The Chair: Welcome back.

On our second panel today, from the Canadian Committee for a
Sustainable Eel Fishery Inc., we have Genna Carey, president; and
Stanley King, spokesperson. From the Shelburne Elver co-opera-
tive, we have Zachary Townsend, fisherman.
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Thank you for taking the time to appear today.

I now invite Genna Carey to make her opening statement for five
minutes or less, please.

® (1735)

Ms. Genna Carey (President, Canadian Committee for a Sus-
tainable Eel Fishery Inc.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'm grateful for the opportunity to inform this committee on the
status of the Canadian elver industry and the management—or mis-
management, [ should say—that has caused it to spiral into the
troubled industry you see today.

I'm here representing the Canadian Committee for a Sustainable
Eel Fishery, which represents the majority of the commercial indus-
try. With me today is Stanley King, CCSEF spokesperson, and
Zachary Townsend, an elver fisherman with the Shelburne Elver
co-operative.

Mr. Chair, as you know, this past week, the minister pre-emptive-
ly cancelled the 2024 elver fishery, putting more than 1,100 legal
elver fishers out of work. This marks the third shutdown in five
years, which only serves to highlight the incompetence of the de-
partment and the bad advice they continue to give successive minis-
ters—six in eight years, if we're counting.

I want to be clear that the fishery today is identical to what it was
12 months ago. Nothing has changed. In fact, the problems that the
minister cites have existed since 2020 without any meaningful ac-
tion by DFO to improve the fishery, despite repeated pleas from
stakeholders. DFO's solution to these problems has always been the
same: Shut down the legal fishery, turn a blind eye to the poaching
and hope the problem magically goes away.

The blatant mismanagement of this fishery is obvious to every-
one, including the governments of Nova Scotia and New
Brunswick and even the minister's own Atlantic caucus colleagues.
They've all voiced opposition to cancelling the fishery and request-
ed that the minister meet with stakeholders before making any final
decision, something she ultimately refused to do, despite the gravi-
ty of her choice.

Perhaps this is because the department, the deputy and the minis-
ter's office in general have made a concerted effort to paint the
elver industry as greedy eel barons rather than 1,100 hard-working
women and men, mostly indigenous, who make up this industry un-
der commercial or communal licences. This disrespectful character-
ization forms part of a disinformation campaign of DFO talking
points that are demonstrably false and designed to cover up mis-
management. The species is not at risk. Traceability projects don't
take years to implement, and enforcement isn't impossible. These
are just convenient excuses.

Cancelling the elver fishery has cost our rural economies more
than $100 million since 2020. Not opening the fishery in 2024 to
await long-overdue regulations that will ultimately be ignored by
unlicensed fishers is nothing short of dereliction of duty by the
minister. We have no confidence that the government will ade-
quately address the industry's problems before next season, and his-
tory supports our skepticism.

I'd like to give Zach the opportunity to speak to the committee so
that the members can learn how DFQO's mismanagement is directly
impacting their constituents.

Mr. Zachary Townsend (Fisherman, Shelburne Elver Coop-
erative): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I am really honoured to testify today as one of almost 1,100 elver
harvesters who have been impacted by the decision of the minister
to surrender the fishery to unlicensed, illegal harvesters. My sole
purpose today is to provide a human face to the frustrations and
panic among the 1,100 Maritimers who have suddenly found them-
selves without employment due to DFO mismanagement of the
elver fishery.

For the last 10 years, I have managed the eel holding facility for
Shelburne Elver Limited. My grandfather was an elver fisher. My
father is an elver fisher, and my brother is an elver fisher. This fish-
ery is my family's livelihood.

As Genna said, there seems to be a perception in Ottawa that the
eight enterprise elver licence holders are the only folks who can
earn a living in this industry. I am here to tell you that this simply
isn't true. My employer, Shelburne Elver, is a co-operative of 17
original shareholders who surrendered their adult eel licences over
25 years ago to remove fishing effort at the adult stage. This en-
sures that, in the entire area where my employer fishes, there is no
overlapping adult eel fishery.

When the minister doesn't cancel the fishery, Shelburne Elver
employs up to 50 people. This injects money into rural communi-
ties in an economically depressed area.

Committee members must fully understand the tremendous hu-
man cost of Minister Lebouthillier's decision.

I lost my partner to cancer a few months ago. It's been hard—un-
bearable at times—but to now be unemployed and facing an uncer-
tain financial future is simply a challenge I didn't need. I don't share
such sad news to evoke your pity, but instead to remind you that
each of us 1,100 Maritimers has a story and a unique set of circum-
stances now made worse by the minister. Then, to read her tweets
from Boston this past week, talking excitedly about how she's pro-
tecting Canadian fishing jobs, was just too much for me. To tweet
that, just hours before 1,100 of us found out that we no longer had
jobs, was just so hurtful. Her lack of awareness and empathy cuts
deep, and I wanted you all to see that today.

Thank you.
® (1740)

The Chair: Thank you for that.

We'll now go to questions from the members, beginning with Mr.
Perkins for six minutes or less.

Go ahead, please.
Mr. Rick Perkins: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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Thank you, witnesses. Thank you, in particular, Zachary, for
sharing your story and representing 1,100 families that have been
thrown out of work for abiding by the law.

How does it feel for you to see people who are breaking the law,
who are currently already on the rivers, while you have no way to
make a living?

Mr. Zachary Townsend: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

To put it frankly, it makes my blood boil. I know that a lot of my
colleagues, my brother and all the people I work with are very con-
fused about how this is happening year after year.

That's really all I have to say. It makes my blood boil.

Thank you.
Mr. Rick Perkins: Thank you.

Ms. Carey, you mentioned that this has been going on for a
decade. Liberal fisheries minister number four, in 2020, shut down
the elver fishery, as Liberal fisheries minister number six has just
done.

Did that reduce the poaching and illegal activity?
Ms. Genna Carey: It did not.

Each time a shutdown has happened, legal fishers have been re-
moved from the rivers. Unlicensed and unregulated fishing has con-
tinued for months afterwards.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Have you been proposing solutions, such as
traceability? I've read in some of your letters and submissions that
you've even offered to pay for it, so that taxpayers don't have to pay
for it, and to help the previous witness from CBSA, as well as
RCMP and others, understand which are legal and which are not.

What has the department's reaction been over the years on that?

Ms. Genna Carey: Certainly, we've been asking for a traceabili-
ty system in this industry for well over 10 years. Each year we've
been told, “Well, next year we'll get that sorted out.” This past year,
it became obvious that nothing would be coming in the next year
unless we took matters into our own hands, so I personally sourced
two companies that were available and ready to implement a trace-
ability system for this season.

As you said, the industry was willing to pay and comply with
this, but when we brought it to DFO, we were told that we could do
it for ourselves but it really couldn't be used because it goes against
procurement procedures. We would, again, just have to continue to
wait for something that we've been holding our breath on for years.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Ms. Carey or Mr. King, Maine has that sys-
tem. How long did it take them to put it in place?

Mr. Stanley King (Spokesperson, Canadian Committee for a
Sustainable Eel Fishery Inc.): Thanks for the question.

You won't hear this from DFO. DFO likes to make out that creat-
ing a traceability system would be a long, drawn-out process. I've
heard five, six or seven years from the minister's department.

Maine did it in less than a year. They requested it in 2012, and by
2013 it was in place. Now, maybe there have been other interac-
tions that have been slightly improved over the years, but this is not

rocket science. It can be implemented rather quickly. There is just
an unwillingness to do so.

Mr. Rick Perkins: DFO has had more than a decade to copy a
successful system and has refused to do so.

Mr. Stanley King: The only thing I can say about that is that
some people like to learn from their own mistakes; they don't like
to learn from the mistakes of others. Canada would like to learn
from its own mistakes.

You're right that we had a traceability system right in front of us.
The same company would do it for us at a pretty reasonable rate.

What's more frustrating is that, since 2020, we've written 35
times to the department, from the minister all the way down to this
committee, all the way down to our local regional director and our
middle managers. We've written 35 times since 2020 to ask for a
traceability system, and obviously they are just unwilling.

® (1745)

Mr. Rick Perkins: Mr. King, last year we really had exponential
growth in the crime, and it's transboundary crime. It's money from
Asia. It's criminal organizations from the U.S. and across Canada
that are now operating freely and lawlessly on our rivers in the
Maritimes. I believe you were actually emailing the minister and
the director general in Nova Scotia daily with videos and pictures
and identification of what was going on, river by river, because the
legal licence-holders have motion-activated cameras on the rivers.

All through that, and even when the minister closed the fishery
after 18 days, you were still persisting, because I think poaching
went on into July. Did you ever get a response from C and P, direc-
tor general Doug Wenzel, the minister's office or any police organi-
zation on that information?

Mr. Stanley King: We were upset that the season closed after 18
days and there was no effort to curb poaching. For the first 31 days
after the closure, when nobody should have been on the river, I
emailed 30 times over 31 days to report poaching every night on six
rivers concurrently. I received no emails back.

I think this email chain had about 20 people on it. It was going to
a lot of C and P local, a lot of C and P national and the minister's
office. Nobody got back to me. Nobody came to the river to do
anything about the poaching.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Your cameras never picked up any DFO,
RCMP or any other law enforcement officers trying to pursue it and
see what was going on in the rivers, in the day or at night.
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Mr. Stanley King: We caught them in the day one time. It was
the day of the closure. They went and put signs on the trees. That
was the only time we saw them.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Perkins.

We'll go to Mr. Cormier for six minutes or less, please.

Mr. Serge Cormier: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

With regard to all the email communication, would you be able
to table that for the committee, please?

Mr. Stanley King: I would be very happy to table it for the com-
mittee. ['ve tabled it for many politicians already. I usually just give
the last one, because I always number them and so forth: This is the
30th report in 31 days.

Mr. Serge Cormier: Thank you.

Ms. Carey, you said that the minister got bad advice during the
last decision, and maybe some previous ministers did also. You
were in contact with DFO officials on a regular basis regarding the
situation that was going on last year, but also previous years. Is that
right?

Ms. Genna Carey: That's correct.

Mr. Serge Cormier: Do you think there's still time to open a
season for commercial licence-holders, a season that will be safe
for everyone on those rivers?

Ms. Genna Carey: I do think there's still time to open this sea-
son. We know that this problem won't be solved overnight. We
know that there must be multiple incremental steps taken to get to
the finish line, where we need to be.

As far as safety on the river is concerned, I can tell you that any
incidents requiring police assistance or reports of altercations were
not between licensed and unlicensed fishers. They were mostly be-
tween unlicensed fishers. In my opinion, in terms of my safety on
the river, although there are a lot of people there, when I phone the
RCMP for assistance and they tell me they don't respond to elver
calls, I certainly don't feel safe.

I don't think it will be any worse than previous years, let me say
that. To cost that many folks their job, I certainly think it's well
worth considering how to get that job done.

Mr. Serge Cormier: You probably listened to the testimony of
other witnesses earlier. The one from CBSA talked about the trace-
ability program or tool that you proposed to DFO. What did you
think of their answer? Was there anything that made you think that
they weren't on the right track or that they don't want to do any-
thing?

® (1750)

Ms. Genna Carey: Well, I certainly don't disagree with CBSA's
answer that regulations will make it easier for them to do their job.

I will point out that those regulations are currently not in place,
and not having legal fishers on the river doesn't change that. They
still have to find a way to do their job in the next few months, be-
cause eels will move through their airport without this fishery hap-
pening. I think those regulations are important. They do need to
happen. There's no question there.

The question is, do you need to put everybody out of work while
we wait—and, while we wait, how long will that actually take?

Mr. Serge Cormier: Okay.

Regarding the question I asked the RCMP, I understand their re-
sponsibility also, but are you aware of any arrests made on the
rivers lately? Was anybody caught?

Ms. Genna Carey: I can only speak to my personal experience
on that. I can tell you that I personally have phoned the RCMP for
assistance on the river when I've been threatened. I have been told
that they don't respond to elver calls. Nobody has shown up. At that
point, the response for me, for safety in my workplace, is that I
have to leave.

As a landowner who reports trespassing, I can also assure you
that there's no response there either. I find it very hard to believe
that there were only six reports for the year. I know landowners on
rivers that we fish, and I can speak to their calling more than six
times.

Mr. Serge Cormier: This is for Ms. Carey or Mr. King.

You said there was bad advice given by a DFO official. Let's put
you in the position of the deputy minister of DFO right now. You
are the deputy minister. What advice would you give the minister?

Ms. Genna Carey: | would start by advising her to speak with
the industry.

We know this industry better than anyone. I grew up in it. My
dad started our company when I was 11. This has been what ['ve
done my whole life. We pioneered this industry and built it from the
ground up. Obviously, it's coming to a change. There needs to be a
change happening. There is nobody better to give advice to the
minister than us.

Mr. Serge Cormier: What kind of advice would you give the
minister, Mr. King? Would you say, “We are ready to open the fish-
ery, and here's the reason why”?

Mr. Stanley King: If I were the deputy minister today, I would
say, “Minister, you need to meet with industry. They've put forward
a concrete plan to improve the safety, traceability and overall con-
ditions of the fishery. You need to do that within the next two
weeks, because the fishery can still be saved. We can still save
1,100 jobs.”

We have legal opinions. We have concrete ways DFO can use
their rules and their set of already existing regulations to save this
fishery. They don't need new regulations. They just need to enforce
the regulations they already have.
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Anything else from the minister's office is misdirection. She's re-
fused to meet with us. The deputy met with us in January before
this decision to close. We got half an hour of her time. She showed
up 10 minutes late and cut us off at the stroke of the hour. First na-
tions have not been consulted. Industry has not been consulted. She
just has to listen.

I would like to be the deputy minister for a day, if I could.
Mr. Serge Cormier: My time is up, I think.
The Chair: You have 28 seconds.

Mr. Serge Cormier: I ran out of questions.

Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you.

We'll now go to Madame Desbiens for six minutes or less.

[Translation]
Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I could have let Mr. Cormier continue as well, but my questions
will be along the same lines as his comments.

Mr. King, I know you came to see us very recently. The situa-
tions you exposed and the facts you presented were absolutely
shocking.

You're saying that you now have a plan for security, traceability
and fishing conditions, that the regulations are in place and that
they just need to be enforced.

Why are these regulations not being enforced?
Mr. Stanley King: Thank you for your question.
[English]

It's not being considered, because nobody will listen to our plan.
The minister will not listen to our plan. We forwarded it. We don't
think there was a genuine consultation period. We've repeatedly
asked to meet with the minister. We think it's easier for the govern-
ment to wash its hands of this industry for this year and just get by
it and hope for next year. That's sort of always their answer.
They've had two previous closures. They could have worked on
this. They know their two previous closures didn't work. We're at
the same crossroads now.

To put the legal fishermen aside is callous. I think it's a cowardly
act. They've bent to the criminals and said, “Listen, you can have
the fishery this year. We are going to stand on the sideline.”

I would like to tell you that our plan also included a lot of activi-
ty with the CBSA to designate airports so that only one airport
could be an export point. That was a suggestion by the CBSA.

Deputy Minister Gibbons said, when she testified in front of you,
that there were a lot of illegal eels mixing with legal eels. Well, that
may be the case for a second-party buyer. If you are an exporter and
you buy from fishermen, you can buy from legal fishermen and il-
legal fishermen, and then put them together. We said we would ship
our eels directly out of the country so they wouldn't have the oppor-
tunity to do that.

We've come up with serious, concrete solutions, and nobody will
listen.

Thank you again for your question.
® (1755)
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Earlier, the Canada Border Services
Agency representatives talked to us about issuing export permits to
facilitate traceability.

Do you see that as an improvement?
[English]

Mr. Stanley King: 1 think that solution will help CBSA. We
found that last year, CBSA seized zero kilograms of elvers, despite
DFO telling us that they were working very closely with CBSA.
We saw testimony at this committee that refuted that fact. We con-
tacted the CBSA ourselves—the director general. He was happy to
meet with us and he more or less told us that they don't really hear
from DFO. He said that they're not working with them.

We had to educate CBSA and they were happy to do that. They
set up multiple meetings. They were very happy to get the informa-
tion. I believe that we'll see increased enforcement and seizure of
shipments this year, but it will not be because of the efforts of DFO.
It will be because of the efforts of industry to educate CBSA.

Thank you.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: If that's the case, would closing the
fishery, even to legal, honest fishers, make any movement of elvers
illegal and easier to identify? Is that really the best choice, or could
people continue to fish? Would greater security allow you to con-
tinue fishing and gradually eliminate oppression, if I can call it
that?

[English]

Mr. Stanley King: I think you're absolutely right. We are willing
to fish and take care of our own security. We're willing to adopt any
suggestions from CBSA or DFO to ensure that poached and black
market eels are not leaving the country.

I think it's cruel to take 1,100 jobs from 1,100 families in one of
the worst economies we've seen in decades. These are rural com-
munities. We need these jobs. The minister has put us in a tough
position. I would just like to point out that she refuses to even meet
with us. She will not look us in the face.

We all had to talk to our employees—50 employees, 25 employ-
ees—and tell them. There were a lot of tears. There was a lot of
“What am I going to do? I'll have to sell my house. I'll have to sell
my car.”
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We had to look at them. I want the minister to look at me. That's
what I would request from this committee.

Thank you.
[Translation]

Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: The same thing is happening to
shrimpers and mackerel fishers in Quebec, though that's a different
story.

The fishery economy is collapsing even though it's a flourishing
economy that helps feed the regions and develop regional
economies. For the fishing community, losing 1,100 jobs is not triv-
ial.

What can we add to our recommendations? What would you like
to see in there? Answer briefly, please.

® (1800)
[English]

Mr. Stanley King: That's a very good question. What could we
tell you that you could bring to the minister?

This has been a 10-year problem. I can tell you that over and
over again. The mismanagement of this fishery is nothing short of
criminal.

What I would like to tell this minister, the past minister and the
minister before that is that they cannot blindly take the advice of
the regional bureaucrats and take it as an honest assessment of the
situation. They need to listen to the stakeholders. We are subject
matter experts. Nobody knows this fishery better than us—certainly
not somebody who has never held an elver in their hand. They are
quick to shoot down our ideas at the regional level and not bring
them up to the minister. That's been one of our complaints for a
long time.

I would like to tell you that we have been working very diligent-
ly with first nation fishers, the new entrants and the other entrants
who would like to get into it. We can all agree that this fishery is
mismanaged. We're trying to solve it on our own. Even for that,
DFO does not like us communicating. They would like to put a
roadblock in between the two parties. Ultimately, they create the
rules, they hold the quota and they will not let us save our own fish-
ery.

The Chair: Thank you, Madame Desbiens.

I will now go to Ms. Barron for six minutes or less, please.
Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you, Chair.

I'm glad it's come to me. My list of questions is getting longer.
I want to thank the witnesses for being here today.
Maybe I'll just pick up where you left off, Mr. King.

If you can, please expand on and share a little bit more about
your point around—I don't want to misquote you here—a road-
block that you feel is being placed between indigenous and non-in-
digenous elver fishers. Can you expand on that a little bit and share
what your experience has been?

Mr. Stanley King: Sure. Thank you for the question.

We've been requesting for a long time, and we've always been
proponents of, greater indigenous access in the fishery—for many,
many years. We realized the easiest way to implement something
like this, which may actually help the fishery as a whole, is to be in
the same room as first nations leaders, especially the ones who
would like to co-operate with DFO. We can really work this out.

The last time I appeared here, Mr. Cormier suggested just that. I
don't know why DFO hasn't brought the two groups together. It was
an excellent idea, and this is how it should be. DFO, despite our
many requests, is unwilling to do that. It likes to work in silos. It
doesn't want the left hand to know what the right hand is doing.

We have tried to circumvent DFO by contacting the Assembly of
First Nations chiefs ourselves. We've met with them and we've had
really great discussions, but ultimately, we can't do anything with-
out DFO's approval. DFO is the governing body, so although we've
tried—the first nations are willing to try and the licence-holders are
willing to try—DFO is not willing to put us in a room together be-
cause it might just reveal too much of what it's been doing, or what
it hasn't been doing.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: I'm not sure if you'll be able to answer
this or not, but what's your sense on this disconnect between in-
digenous and non-indigenous harvesters? Do you have anything
you can share around the implications or impacts of these fishers
being separated and not having the opportunity to have these really
important discussions?

Mr. Stanley King: DFO has essentially pitted our two camps
against each other, when we're basically on the same side. We're all
fishermen. We all want to make a living from this resource. We all
want to pay tax. We all want to create jobs for our communities. In-
stead of bringing us together under one umbrella, DFO has separat-
ed us, and that causes animosity. That causes strife in the industry
and a lack of understanding, because nobody knows what the other
side is thinking.

There's a real bone to pick with DFO, and this is part of the mis-
management. [ want to tell you that this is getting major news. We
recently had a university professor contact our industry group, say-
ing, “We would like to make a case study out of the DFO misman-
agement in this fishery.” When it gets to that point and when they're
making political cartoons about it, something has gone awry and
we need serious help, because the help we're getting from DFO is
like a lead weight being thrown over a boat.

® (1805)

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you, Mr. King. I have many
other questions, but thank you for your insight on that.

Mr. Townsend, first and foremost, I want to offer my condo-
lences for the loss of your partner. Thank you for sharing with us
the stress and hardship that the closure of this industry has created
in your life. Those stories are very important in our work, so I want
to thank you.
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I'm wondering if you can share whether you had any consultation
at all. Did anybody reach out to you? Were there any opportunities
for you to be able to provide input or feedback through this process
prior to the closure of the elver fishery?

Mr. Zachary Townsend: Thank you for your question and for
your condolences. I really appreciate that.

Really, other than being able to write a letter to the minister,
which I'm not even sure she read, I was able to talk to my local MP,
who was very sympathetic. I heard from a lot of my co-workers
that they've been reaching out to their MPs.

Many MPs in the Liberal caucus are very sympathetic to what is
happening. I had my MP reach out by phone because he was so af-
fected by what I read to him, so thank you.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you, Mr. Townsend.

Ms. Carey, you spoke about the traceability system that you felt
should be implemented and how you looked for an outside organi-
zation that could implement this, but then you were told it could
only be used for personal use and it couldn't be expanded beyond
that. Please correct me if any of that is incorrect. Based on what
you said, that's what I heard.

I'm wondering if you can share a bit more, because we did quite
an in-depth study on the traceability of seafood, and I think this is a
really important component of the work we're doing today.

Can you share a bit—because I only have a few seconds left—
about what this traceability system might look like? What do you
think are the key features of this traceability system?

Ms. Genna Carey: It would start where our paper system is
leaving off, which is tracking each river, the estimated quota leav-
ing each river, and then final tallies at our facilities once you've
done a final weight. However, this would be put into real time, like-
ly digitally through an app with time-stamps and specific to each
individual harvester versus a team filling out a logbook. This then
allows it to be traced to each person versus each team or each truck.
Those numbers are then, obviously, tracked from the riverbank to
the facility, and from the facility at each sale, following it, of
course, straight out of the country.

Depending on the company I was chatting with, there were a few
different avenues of getting there. The one Canadian company I
spoke with.... Because time was short, things were going to be pilot
projects, so probably not the exact system we're going to use forev-
er, but something to get the job done for this season. It would use,
say, batch numbers or a tracing number that would then follow each
elver shipment out of the country.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Barron.

We'll now go to Mr. Arnold for five minutes or less, please.
Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you for being here. Your personal situation with this espe-
cially creates.... It's really something that all parliamentarians need
to hear.

Ms. Carey, you were speaking about the traceability system. I'm
glad to hear that you spoke about it being real-time and digital and
so on. I don't want to diminish in any way the work you are doing,

but I'm familiar with the west coast, where it was required to have a
printed sheet of paper to record the chinook salmon that one caught.
There was a maximum of 10 per year, per fisherman, but all a fish-
erman needed to do was simply print another piece of paper. There-
fore, I'm glad to hear that your system is going digital. They finally
accepted a digital program that someone else had to basically de-
velop for the DFO, but it took years for them to get that accepted
and approved.

Earlier witnesses were talking about the need for a proper regula-
tory regime, and there was discussion about the difficulty in differ-
entiating imported elvers that came into Canada from elvers that
were actually caught here, that were domestically caught. Would
the traceability system allow for the difference between imported
and domestically caught elvers?

® (1810)

Ms. Genna Carey: I would just like to highlight to you that our
original traceability system was developed by the industry. I sat at
the table and developed that logbook in triplicate, so you can't just
print a new piece of paper. Therefore, it only makes sense that I got
to sit at the table to develop the digital system.

Yes, I do think that the digital system would help with that, be-
cause those eels would be traced. There would be five kilograms
associated with this tag number, and its movements would be
tracked throughout its range in our country and on export.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you.

Mr. King, have you been sending in reports of elver poaching
this year to various enforcement agencies?

Mr. Stanley King: Yes, sir. We put out our trail cameras two
days ago, and instantly we got pictures of people poaching elvers.
There are still more to come out. For the two days we've had them
out, both days I've sent emails to a long list of people to report that.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Has there been any response from enforcement
agencies on that?

Mr. Stanley King: The first day I got a one-word email back
that said “Received”.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Is that all?

Mr. Stanley King: That's it so far, yes, but that's more than I got
last year out of 30.

Mr. Mel Arnold: Thank you.

I'm going to take a little bit of my time here to move a motion
that was put on notice last week. I apologize to the witnesses, be-
cause what we're hearing from you is very important, but you are
commercial fishermen.

The motion reads:

That, given that the carbon tax is increasing the cost of inputs for commercial
fish harvesters, and that the government has committed to hiking the carbon tax
on April Ist, the committee report to the House its recommendation to spike the
hike, and axe the tax.
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I move that motion.

The Chair: Is there any discussion?

Mr. Morrissey.

Mr. Robert Morrissey (Egmont, Lib.): Mr. Chair, first of all, I
have a brief comment on the motion. I respect my colleague and,
quite frankly, will state on the record that this has come from the
centre, from his leader's office. I don't think it has come from the
member, because of the inaccuracy of the motion put forward re-
garding the inputs to commercial fishers. This is a propaganda
piece the Conservative Party has been putting forward for a year
now.

Let me repeat that diesel fuel used by commercial fishers is ex-
empt from the carbon price, as is gasoline. How, then, do you justi-
fy the comment you made on the inputs?

I'm very close to the commercial fishery. In terms of the input
costs, the highest one is wages, which is not subject to tax. Bait is
not subject to tax. Fuel is not subject to tax. Interest on a loan is not
subject to tax. Where, then, is carbon pricing impacting the inputs
to commercial fisheries? The premise of your motion is totally erro-
neous, because it doesn't exist.

However, I'll tell you one thing that does exist and that I see. I
live in Atlantic Canada. I don't know about the west coast. I see the
real impact of climate change that is affecting an industry that has
been very beneficial to Atlantic Canadians. Like my colleague, I
am the son of fishers. We were the poorest people when I grew up
in our community. That's not the case today, because of a very well-
managed fishery.

However, something that should concern every Atlantic Canadi-
an is the impact of climate change on these lucrative fisheries. This
is something on which the Conservative Party chooses to stick its
head in the sand and ignore, using motions like this that are totally
erroneous. When I look at all the principal inputs to the commercial
fishery, carbon pricing does not affect them.

Let's take your motion to a more global extent, on shipping, be-
cause, again, it's moving product. Shipping rates and trucking rates
today are equal to two years ago.

Mr. Rick Perkins: I have a point of order.

Mr. Robert Morrissey: Mr. Chair, I'm speaking to the motion
that was put forward.

Mr. Rick Perkins: I haven't even gotten to say what my point of
order is.

® (1815)
Mr. Robert Morrissey: That's fair.

Mr. Rick Perkins: If MP Morrissey is going to speak for the
next 10 or 15 minutes, I'm just wondering if we want to dismiss the
witnesses. I would prefer we get back to questioning the witnesses.

Mr. Robert Morrissey: Mr. Chair, with all due respect to the
point of order—

Mr. Rick Perkins: I'm just asking.
The Chair: Hold on.

On that point of order, there was a motion moved on the floor by
Mr. Arnold.

Mr. Robert Morrissey: There's no regard for the time left for
the witnesses, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Exactly.

Also, Mr. Morrissey asked to respond to that motion, and that's
exactly what he's doing.

Mr. Robert Morrissey: Why did your colleague move a motion
that was frivolous at this point in time?

Mr. Rick Perkins: It's only frivolous to those who don't care
about the cost of fish and the business.

The Chair: Mr. Morrissey, you have the floor.

Mr. Rick Perkins: I would expect the Liberals to think that it's
frivolous, because they are defensive and losing on the carbon tax.

The Chair: Mr. Perkins—

Mr. Robert Morrissey: Mr. Chair, we could have a long debate,
as in the House, but let's deal with the facts as they relate to the
commercial fishery. I may have some questions on carbon pricing,
but nobody has disputed the fact that carbon-emitting fuels are
leading to global climate change and warming. We, on the east
coast, are on the front lines of that.

If somebody has a pragmatic, realistic plan for slowing global
climate change, which would affect every fishery here, including
elvers, then let's look at that particular one. However, to table a mo-
tion at the last moment talking about the impact carbon pricing is
having on the inputs to commercial fisheries.... Let's be honest
about it. The fuel used in commercial fisheries, which is diesel and
gasoline, is exempt—for the fourth time—and always was exempt.
It's the same as it is for farmers.

However, Conservatives will continue to use that phrase in the
House of Commons and before committees, which is erroneous.

Mr. Rick Perkins: I have a point of order.
The Chair: Mr. Perkins, go ahead on your point of order.

Mr. Rick Perkins: I would like to let you know that I just got a
text from a fisherman who said he's not exempt from the carbon
tax, so maybe you want to talk to fishermen.

Mr. Robert Morrissey: Well, then somebody has poor account-
ing. There's no carbon tax on diesel fuel and gasoline used in com-
mercial fisheries, which is the same as in farming. That is a fact.

Based on that, I would call for us to adjourn the debate on this
motion at this time.

The Chair: There is a motion to adjourn the debate.
(Motion agreed to: yeas 7; nays 4)

The Chair: The motion is adopted.

We'll now vote on the motion from Mr. Arnold.

(Motion negatived: nays 7; yeas 4)
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The Chair: We'll now go to Mr. Kelloway, for five minutes or
less, please.

® (1820)
Mr. Mike Kelloway: Thank you to the witnesses for coming.

I've had the pleasure of talking to Mr. King, Ms. Carey, and Mr.
Townsend. My condolences to you on your loss. I lost my mom in
January. Those significant losses have such an impact, and then
you're put in a situation like the one you're facing with respect to
elvers. I just want to acknowledge that, and thank you for coming
to put a face to the elver situation we find ourselves in.

I want to stick to traceability for a second. We know that's an im-
portant piece in the tool box with respect to ensuring that we have a
vibrant fishery. We talked with the last witnesses—and I don't
know if you had a chance to hear their testimony—about the regu-
latory framework, and that it needed to be broad and deep.

I'm wondering about the traceability aspect of it. Mr. King, 1
think you mentioned in previous testimony that it's not a silver bul-
let, but it's important. I want to give you this opportunity, because
what we need is not just to hear from industry, but to follow indus-
try's lead on things.

This is for all three of you. When we look at traceability being
key, can you highlight some of the other things that...? The minis-
ter's in front of you right now, and you have 30 minutes. What are
the items that could help, hypothetically, this year and going for-
ward? Can you draw upon the experiences of the Maine fishermen?
My understanding of the Maine example is that they put a lot of
work and effort into it, but they didn't necessarily get it right the
first year. They refined it and learned from best practices, and
things of that nature.

I'm wondering if you could take those two items and maybe
splice them together. Could you also take this opportunity for some
lasting statements that you want every parliamentarian to hear? It
doesn't really matter if you're Conservative, New Democrat, Bloc,
or Liberal. I put all of that stuff away. Those could be the talking
points from the respective cloakrooms of the parties. It's about peo-
ple. It's about the resource, and it's about an industry that we hold
dear.

I want to give that to you.

Mr. Stanley King: Thank you, Mr. Kelloway.

What I would like to say to the minister and yourself, Mr. Kel-
loway, again, is that you can't take what the region tells you as fact.
I've listened to many of your TV and radio interviews. To tell you
that it was partly disinformation fed—through no fault of your
own—by DFO would be a fact.

The species is not at risk. We have a lot of data. We have 30
years of data. The best dataset in North America says that, and we
can support that. DFO's own scientists say that. Conservation is out
of the question. The traceability system can be implemented in less
than one year. Maine did it. Was it perfect the first year? It probably
wasn't, but it would definitely be good enough to save 1,100 jobs.
Enforcement isn't impossible. They say, “Oh, it's 200 or 300
rivers.” No, it's about 100 rivers and it's three months long. You

could do one a night and get them all done. You would see illegal
fishers quickly drop off. There's no question about that.

To point at Deputy Minister Gibbons' previous testimony, shut-
ting the season down will provide no clarity. It didn't provide clarity
during the last shutdown. It didn't provide the clarity in 2020. All it
does is make life easier for DFO and harder for us.

To comment on the Maine system, we can do traceability. Ms.
Carey said she could have done it in three months if DFO had al-
lowed us to do it, but they won't. Maine also has a huge fine sys-
tem. If you get caught poaching elvers once, it's $25,000. If you get
caught twice, it's mandatory jail time. In Canada, last year, there
were 1,400 reports of poaching to DFO. They'll admit that people
reported to them 1,400 times. They made 60 arrests. Those arrests
won't even make it to 60 charges. Those charges, if they are suc-
cessfully convicted, are $500, and you can rack up five or 10 of
them. It's the cost of doing business.

The last thing I would like to say is that DFO will not protect our
long-term scientific study. We put our blood, sweat, tears and mon-
ey into it. We all lost our jobs, and the first thing we said this year,
after hearing this, was that we need the science to go forward.
We're willing to pay the money. We're still willing to do the work,
even unemployed. DFO will not help protect that study. We asked
them over 30 times last year to protect the East River study from
poaching so we could get the data. They wouldn't do it, but they're
the first ones to point back at us and say, “Oh, the science study
didn't run last year so, you know, we'd better be cautious, because
we don't have the data to support that the industry is sustainable.”
They're playing both sides of the fence.

I apologize for taking up so much time, but that's what I would
like to point out.

® (1825)
Mr. Mike Kelloway: I don't know how much time I have left.
The Chair: You have none left.
Mr. Mike Kelloway: Okay. Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Kelloway.

Before 1 go to Madame Desbiens, I'd like to welcome Mr.
Généreux, who is here to fill in for Mr. Perkins. I will say that I
hope he's on my shooting team again at Stittsville Shooting Ranges.
I hope he brings his son along. We won first place last year because
of those two gentlemen.

Madame Desbiens, you have two and a half minutes or less.
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[Translation]
Mrs. Caroline Desbiens: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'm very troubled by what you're saying about how little interest
there is in saving this fishery. It's like they don't care. It's like a hot
potato everyone is passing on. That's deplorable.

I wonder if we should invite you to testify in the presence of
DFO representatives. I don't know if that can happen. I'm trying to
think of a solution.

The department isn't listening to you or doesn't seem to be listen-
ing to you, so I'm looking for a way to get your message across.
The committee can send that message. I think everyone heard it
loud and clear, and Mr. Kelloway said it in a non-partisan way.

You speak for 1,100 fishers. How many of you have no income
right now? I just want to get a sense. Employment insurance is one
thing, but are all those people unemployed?

[English]

Ms. Genna Carey: Yes, I believe that, for those folks who are
employed in this industry, as Zach can attest to, employment insur-
ance has run out at this point. There's nothing to fall back on. They
are looking to get new jobs. Some of my employees have scram-
bled and have found some—certainly not replacement employment,
but something to allow them to feed their families. Others have not,
and they're not sure what they're going to do.

As we said, it's such a tough economic time. The loss of any job
is felt deeply in small communities.

Do you have anything to add to that?

Mr. Zachary Townsend: I would just add that, after last year,
there were so many people hurting because the fishery was shut
down after two weeks. I want to add to the point that many people
were barely able to get through to this year because of that shut-
down. They've shut this fishery down three times in five years,
which, in my opinion, would be considered a catastrophe anywhere,
a failure of government, would it not?

I want to communicate the rage that so many of my colleagues
feel. They wonder why it is a prerequisite that they lose their jobs
for DFO to do its job. Why do we need to lose our jobs in order for
DFO to enforce the law?

Thank you. I'm sorry for getting emotional.
The Chair: That's no problem.

Thank you, Madame Desbiens.

Unfortunately, Ms. Barron, that chews up our three hours of
committee business today. We're at the 6:30 point, and our witness-
es have been here and have been generous with their time.

® (1830)

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Mr. Chair, can I ask for unanimous
consent to be able to take my two and a half minutes of questions?
Is that an option?

The Chair: All right.

Mr. Clifford Small: I'm going to ask her a question before I give
my consent.

Ms. Barron, is that an “I love oil and gas” badge that's over there
on your bulletin board over your right shoulder?

Some hon. members: Oh, oh!
A voice: I think that's fake news, CIiff.
Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: It says, “I love my library”.

The Chair: For that comment, he'll have to owe you another
couple of minutes at the next meeting.

Go ahead, Ms. Barron.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

In case it wasn't heard, my button says, “I love my library”,
which is a very important differentiation to make there.

Thank you to the witnesses.

Thank you to the committee for allowing me to quickly ask my
questions.

I want to ask Mr. King first if he can please clarify something.

You talked about shipping directly out of the country, and I be-
lieve that was related to the mixing of illegal and legal elvers. Can
you clarify that? The point wasn't finished.

Mr. Stanley King: Sure, thank you. I'll go as quickly as I can.

Some seafood companies will buy our product in Canada, and
then they will ship it to, say, Toronto and hold it there for a few
days before ultimately shipping it to an Asian destination. In that
intermediate time, they can mix our product—and I think they
have—with black market elvers. If the industry as a whole agreed
not to sell to anybody domestically and instead sell directly to over-
seas markets—if we ship them ourselves and put them on the
plane—we would know that there was no black market mixing go-
ing on. It's a simple solution.

Ms. Lisa Marie Barron: Thank you.

The last question I'm going to ask before I get cut off is for Ms.
Carey.

To clarify, when you made calls about violence as a result of the
elver harvesting and everything that we've been talking about, you
were told that the RCMP does not respond to elver calls. I believe
those are the exact words you used. Has there been any follow-up
information provided, any resources or any additional information
that you might want to add to that point?



20 FOPO-102

March 19, 2024

Ms. Genna Carey: Sure. I can say that, in chats with enforce-
ment and Tim Kerr himself, I made known some issues in report-
ing. There's a 1-800 number you can call, which is another incident
that I didn't even tell you about. You start at your local detachment,
and nobody answers, so you phone the 1-800 number, and it rings
and rings, and nobody answers. Then you phone back, and you're
redirected to an RCMP switchboard, where they didn't know they
were going to be receiving this call in the first place, and then they
redirect you because they don't take fisheries or elver calls, and
you're left with nothing.

I can say that, on more than one, two, three, even four occasions
that I have phoned RCMP and DFO with no response to concerns, I
have made it known in writing that the systems provided to us,
those 1-800 numbers or the detachment numbers, are not working.

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Barron. You've gone a little bit over,
but not bad.

I want to say a special thank you to Ms. Carey, Mr. King and Mr.
Townsend for appearing before the committee today on this impor-
tant study and for sharing their knowledge and experience with the
committee as we look forward to writing a report to present in the
House of Commons.

With that, I'll say thank you to our interpreters, our staft and the
people who made this meeting possible.

1 wish everybody a good evening.

The meeting is adjourned.
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